
 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

March 3, 2025 

6:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.       Minutes for Approval  

Minutes of February 3, 2025 – Council Meeting 

Minutes of February 10, 2025 – Council Meeting  

    

 Presentations and Introductions 

 Presentation – Master Plan Parks & Recreation – Jamison Czarnecki 

 

 Unfinished Business 

 

 Reports of Council Committees  

      

a) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-07, an ordinance amending Ordinance No. 6008 

to recognize the positions, corresponding classifications, and maximum 

salaries for the employees of the Lerner Theatre, within the appropriated 

budget of the Lerner Theatre for the year 2025 

 

b) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

There are no Ordinances or Resolutions referred to committees 

 

Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  

       There are no tabled Ordinances or Resolutions 

 

3.       New Business 

 

a) Ordinances on First Reading 

There are no Ordinances on First Reading 

 

b) Resolutions 

Proposed Resolution 25-R-03, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana, terminating by agreement, the Economic Revitalization Area and 

Memorandum of Agreement between the City of Elkhart and Hydro Extrusion USA, 

LLC for which no tax abatement benefits have been claimed or received 

Proposed Resolution 25-R-04, a resolution of the Common Council of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana approving Agreement for the Repayment of Tax Phase-In Benefits 

between the City of Elkhart, Indiana and Champion Manufacturing Inc. and C.R. 17 

Land Development, LLC 

 

 



 

c) Vacation Hearings 

      There are no vacation hearings. 

       

d) Other New Business 

 

e) Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

f) Neighborhood Association Report 

 

g) Privilege of the Floor 

                  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 

 

h) Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

i) Acceptance of Communications 

Minutes of January 14, 2025 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

Minutes of January 28, 2025 – Board of Public Safety 

Minutes of February 11, 2025 – Board of Public Safety 

Minutes of February 4, 2025 – Board of Public Works 

Minutes of January 14, 2025 – Elkhart Redevelopment Commission 

Minutes of January 8, 2025 – Lerner Theatre Board 

Report – January Month End – Elkhart Communications Center 

  

 

 Adjournment 

 























































































































 
 

 

Rod Roberson 

Mayor 

Dustin McLain 

Department Head 

574.293.2175 

Fax: 574.294.5530 

Elkhart City Communications 

135 E Franklin Street 

Elkhart, IN 46516 

Date:  February 14, 2024  

 

To:  Mayor Rod Roberson 

  Elkhart City Board of Public Safety 

  Common Council 

 

From:  Dustin McLain, Department Head 

  Elkhart Communications Center 

 

Re:  January 2025 Month End Report 
 

We processed 8,056 incoming & outgoing emergency and non-emergency phone calls.  This was a 

decrease of 208 calls from January of 2024.  Below is a summary of the calls we handled in 

Communications. 

 
By shift, we entered 7662 calls into the CAD, an increase of 1247 calls from January of 2024.  Below is a 

breakdown of the call volume by shift. 

 

*Other Calls refers to calls made to communications that either required a response by other departments, such as 

Parks Dept., Street Dept., etc. This also includes calls that are dispatched out as attempts to locate, repossessions 

and/or private impounds.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

• For the month of January 2025, we handled 51 AUDIO REQUESTS for the Prosecutor’s Office and Police 

Dept.  We provided 31 (FOIA) Public Records Requests to individuals.    

CALL SOURCES 
911  

*This includes Landlines, Wireless, VoIP, 

TexTTY, and abandoned.* (as reported by 

ECats State reporting online) 

Administrative 

Incoming/Outgoing 

(non-emergency) 

TOTAL 

 2059 5997 8056 

2024 Totals 1824 6440 8264 

  POLICE CALLS FIRE CALLS OTHER TOTALS 

Day Shift 2092 407 364 2863 

Afternoon Shift 1877 421 323 2621 

Midnight Shift 1871 191 116 2178 

All Shifts 5840 1019 803 7662 

2024 Totals 4802 924 690 6415 



Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-07 

Page 1 of 1 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE: December 24, 2024 

TO: Elkhart Common Council 

FROM: Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff  

 RE: Updating the Lerner salary ordinance 

The City of Elkhart and The Lerner Theater recently hired Conway Entertainment Group to 
assist in making improvements to the management of The Lerner. As part of that process, the 
Conway Entertainment Group and the Administration have worked closely to better organize 
the current organizational chart of The Lerner Theater. These changes will allow for a better 
working relationship between the staff and management.  

The proposed new organization chart and amended Salary Ordinance does not reflect an 
increase of funds from the budget passed earlier this year. It simply allows the Salary 
Ordinance to match the changes in the Organizational Chart of the Lerner. 

The Administration appreciates the Council approval of this request. 



Lerner Theatre Salary Ordinance Schedula A 
(Adopted)

Lerner Theatre Salary Ordinance Schedula A 
(Proposed Amedment)

Position Grade Max Position Grade Max
General Manager 3C 107,870 General Manager 4A 115,020
Technical & Facilities Director 3C 107,870 Director of Operations 3B 101,680
Assistant Director of Events 3B 101,680 Director of Events 3B 101,680
Communications and Marketing Coordinator 2C 84,440 Marketing & Communications 2C 84,440
Operations & Building Manager 2C 84,440 Facilities Manager 2B 74,110
Office Manager 2A 70,110 Office Manager 2A 70,110
Media Specialist 2A 70,110 Media Specialist 2A 70,110
Box Office Manager 1C 65,720 Box Office Manager 2A 70,110
Assistant Technical Coordinator 1C 65,720 Technical Coordinator 2A 70,110
Assistant Box Office Manager 1B 59,250 Box Office Assistant 1B 59,250
Facilities Coordinator 1B 59,250 Building Services 1B 59,250
Artistic Coordinator 1B 59,250 Artistic Coordinator 1B 59,250
Custodial Coordinator 1B 59,250



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Ordinance No.  25-O-07 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 6008 TO REORGANIZE THE 
POSITIONS, CORRESPONDING CLASSIFICATIONS, AND MAXIMUM SALARIES 

FOR THE EMPLOYEES OF THE LERNER THEATRE, WITHIN THE 
APPROPRIATED BUDGET OF THE LERNER THEATRE FOR THE YEAR 2025 

____________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-7-3, the Common Council of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 6008, approving the salaries and 

wages of the appointed officers and employees of the City of Elkhart, as set forth in Schedule A 

of the ordinance, including the employees of the Lerner Theatre; and  

WHEREAS, since the adoption of Ordinance No. 6008, the Administration received the 

professional recommendations of an entertainment industry consultant, advising the City to 

implement a limited reorganization of the positions of the Lerner Theatre to improve operations 

and management of the Theatre and improve the working relationships between staff and 

management of the Theatre; and  

WHEREAS, the recommended reorganization of the Lerner Theatre is budget neutral and 

does not require an additional appropriation of funds by the Common Council; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The section of Schedule A, entitled, Lerner Theatre, adopted by the Common 

Council under Ordinance No. 6008, be, and the same hereby is, amended, such that the positions, 

classifications\pay grades, and corresponding maximum salaries for the employees of the Lerner 

Theatre, is amended and replaced, as follows: 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Lerner Theatre     

Position 2025 Pay 
Grade 

 
2025 
Maximum 
Annual Salary 

 

General Manager 4A  $115,020  
Director of Operations 3B  $101,680  
Director of Events 3B  $101,680  
Marketing & Communications 2C  $84,440  
Facilities Manager 2B  $74,110  
Office Manager 2A  $70,110  
Media Specialist 2A  $70,110  
Box Office Manager 2A  $70,110  
Technical Coordinator 2A  $70,110  
Box Office Assistant 1B  $59,250  
Building Services 1B  $59,250  
Artistic Coordinator                                                                      1B  $59,250  
     

Section 2.  Except as herein provided, all other provision of Ordinance No. 6008, 

including Schedule A, shall remain unmodified and shall continue effective, as previously 

adopted by the Common Council.  

Section 3.  This amendment is effective upon passage, and approval by the Mayor, as 

provided by law, and retroactive to January 1, 2025. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 3 of 3 
 

SO ORDAINED this ______ day of ____________________, ______. 

 
________________________________ 

       Arvis Dawson 
President of the Common Council 

ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at 

    a.m./p.m. 

 
_______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 

Approved by me this ______ day of ____________________, _____. 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 

ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 



Dept. of Law Matter No. 23-3009 

Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-03 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE: 
TO: 
FROM: 
RE: 

January 8, 2025 
Common Council 
Corporation Counsel John Espar  
Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-03 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 
TERMINATING BY AGREEMENT, THE ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION AREA AND 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ELKHART AND HYDRO 
EXTRUSION USA, LLC FOR WHICH NO TAX ABATEMENT BENEFITS WILL BE CLAIMED 

This resolution relates to Resolution Nos. R-41-23, R-42-23, and R-43-23 which granted tax 
phase-in benefits to  HYDRO EXTRUSION USA, LLC for a real property and personal property 
investment project planned for an area designated as an economic revitalization area (ERA) in the 
City of Elkhart. 
HYDRO EXTRUSION USA, LLC has since determined that the real and personal property projects 
for which the company entered into the Memorandum of Agreement – Real Property and 
Memorandum of Agreement – Personal Property are no-longer commercially reasonable and will 
not move forward.  
HYDRO EXTRUSION USA, LLC has not started the project and has no right to claim tax benefits 
under either Memorandum of Agreement.  
HYDRO EXTRUSION USA, LLC has agreed to terminate the ERA, terminate the agreements, and 
waive any claim to benefits, R-41-23, R-42-23, and R-43-23 and the two agreements. 



Page 1 of 7 

Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-03 

RESOLUTION NO. R- 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, TERMINATING BY AGREEMENT, THE ECONOMIC REVITALIZATION 
AREA AND MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ELKHART 

AND HYDRO EXTRUSION USA, LLC FOR WHICH NO TAX ABATEMENT 
BENEFITS HAVE BEEN CLAIMED OR RECEIVED 

___________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) 

designated the property located at 3406 Reedy Drive, Elkhart, IN 46514, and particularly described 

in Exhibit A, an economic revitalization area (the “Area”) under Resolution Numbers R-41-23 and 

R-42-23, as authorized by Indiana Code 6.1-1.1-12.1; and

WHEREAS, the Common Council adopted Resolution No. R-43-23 and approved the 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY and the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT –

PERSONAL PROPERTY, respectively, granting Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC certain tax abatement 

benefits, in exchange for certain investments and other commitments by Hydro Extrusion USA, 

LLC, as described in the agreements, the STATEMENT OF BENEFITS – REAL PROPERTY (FORM SB-

1 \RP) and the STATEMENT OF BENEFITS – PERSONAL PROPERTY (FORM SB-1 \PP); and 

WHEREAS, since the Council’s adoption of Resolution No. R-43-23, Hydro Extrusion 

USA, LLC determined that the investments and other commitments arising under the 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY and the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT –

PERSONAL PROPERTY, are no longer financially viable; and as such, the company has not executed 

the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY and the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT –

PERSONAL PROPERTY; and  

WHEREAS, Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC, having determined that the project contemplated 



Page 2 of 7 
 

under Resolution Numbers R-41-23, R-42-23 and R-43-23 will not be undertaken 

WHEREAS, Department of Development Services for the City of Elkhart and Hydro 

Extrusion USA, LLC request that the Common Council terminate the ERA and withdraw the 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY and the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – 

PERSONAL PROPERTY, and  

WHEREAS, Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC has neither claimed, nor received, any tax 

abatement benefits under the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY or MEMORANDUM 

OF AGREEMENT – PERSONAL PROPERTY, has agreed to waive any tax abatement benefits under said 

instruments, and has disclaimed any rights to tax abatement arising therefrom; and  

WHEREAS, Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC, having determined that the project contemplated 

under Resolution Numbers R-41-23, R-42-23 and R-43-23 would not move forward, and having 

declined to execute the MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY and MEMORANDUM OF 

AGREEMENT – PERSONAL PROPERTY, has resulted in no obligations arising, no obligations pending, 

and no obligations remaining between the City of Elkhart and Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The designation of the property located at 3406 Reedy Drive, Elkhart, IN 

46514, and particularly described in Exhibit A, as an economic revitalization area under Resolution 

Nos. R-41-23 and R-42-23 be, and the same hereby is, terminated. 

Section 2. The MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT – REAL PROPERTY and MEMORANDUM 

OF AGREEMENT – PERSONAL PROPERTY, approved by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 

under R-43-23, be, and the same hereby are, withdrawn. 

Section 3.  The rights of Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC to receive tax phase-in 



Page 3 of 7 
 

benefits under Resolution No. R-43-23, and the corresponding agreements with the City 

of Elkhart, are, hereby, withdrawn. 

Section 4. No claim of Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC for tax deduction benefits, 
as described in Resolution No. R-43-23 and the corresponding agreements with the City 

of Elkhart, under section 3, 4.5, or 4.8 of Indiana Code 6-5.1-12.1, shall survive the adoption 

of this resolution, regardless of when such right or claim may have accrued. 

Section 5.  This Resolution is effective from and after its passage by the Common 

Council, and approval by the Mayor, according to law. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 4 of 7 
 



Page 5 of 7 
 

  



Page 6 of 7 
 

 
CONSENT TO TERMINATION OF TAX ABATEMENT 

 
 The undersigned duly authorized representative of the entity set forth below, does, by 
execution of this instrument, represent that I have read the above and foregoing proposed 
resolution of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, agree with the representations 
set forth therein, and do hereby consent to the termination of the economic revitalization area, the 
corresponding memoranda of agreement, and the rescission of the tax abatement benefits arising 
therefrom. 
 
 
Hydro Extrusion USA, LLC 
6250 N River Road, Ste 5000 
Rosemont, IL 60018 
 
By: 
 
      
Mike Stier 
Treasurer 
 

  
 
 
 
 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 03256BEE-DCDD-4DF9-8EA1-258EA90E284D



Page 7 of 7 
 

 
 
 RESOLVED this _____ day of _____________, _____. 

 

____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

ATTEST:     President of the Common Council 
 

______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this _____ day of _____________, _____, at    
a.m./p.m. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _____ day of _____________, _____. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart  

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

 



Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-04

Dept. of Law Matter No. 21-1789 

M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: February 26, 2025

TO:  Common Council 

FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar 

RE: Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-04

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

APPROVING AGREEMENT FOR REPAYMENT OF TAX PHASE-IN BENEFITS BETWEEN THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA AND CHAMPION MANUFACTURING INC. AND C.R. 17
LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC  

On October 8, 2019, the City of Elkhart, Champion Manufacturing Inc.(Champion) and C.R. 17 
Land Development, LLC (CR 17) entered into a Memorandum of Agreement – Real Property 
(Memorandum of Agreement), which granted Champion and CR 17 tax-reducing benefits on the 
companies’ manufacturing facility located in the City of Elkhart, in exchange for the performance 
of certain promises by the Champion at its Elkhart facility.  

On January 1, 2024, Champion Manufacturing, Inc. ceased operations and terminated all 
employees at the Elkhart, Indiana manufacturing facility, contrary to the terms of the Memorandum 
of Agreement. 

On July 29, 2024, the Common Council adopted Resolution No. R-39-24, finding that Champion 
Manufacturing Inc. and C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC failed to comply with the terms of the 
Memorandum of Agreement and therefore terminated the companies’ rights to receive the tax 
benefits under the Agreement. 

Under the terms of the Memorandum of Agreement, if the Council determined that Champion 
failed to comply with the Agreement, the City retained the right to reclaim the tax benefits received 
by Champion and/or CR 17, in proportion to Champion’s non-compliance with the Memorandum 
of Agreement.  

Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-04, if adopted, would approve the amount and terms of repayment 
of the tax benefits received by Champion and CR 17, as determined by the Department of Law, 
without compromise or reduction in the amount of tax payable, by reason of the Champion’s 
noncompliance. 

The demand letter of Corporation Counsel, setting forth the legal basis for the City’s demand and 
calculation of taxes payable by reason of Champion’s noncompliance is attached for Council’s 
reference.  



City of Elkhart, Indiana 
Rod Roberson 

Mayor

Department of Law
John M. Espar

Corporation Counsel

August 5, 2024 

Champion Manufacturing, Inc. 

Attention: Doug Heinisch 

CR 17 Land Development, LLC
22291 Heron Cove 
Elkhart, IN 46516 
Attention: Amit Shah 

Re: Notice of Termination of Tax Phase-In Benefits 
Memorandum of Agreement – Real Property

Dear Messrs. Heinisch and Shah: 

Background 

This correspondence relates to the tax phase-in benefits awarded by the City of Elkhart, Indiana to 
Champion Manufacturing Inc. and CR 17 Land Development, LLC, under Common Council 
Resolution Nos. R-41-19, R-42-19, and R-43-19, collectively, together with that certain 
Memorandum of Agreement – Real Estate, dated October 7, 2019, between the City of Elkhart and 
Champion Manufacturing Inc. and CR17 Land Development LLC (MOA).  

Declaration of Breach, and Required Notice 

Paragraph 5 (a) of the Memorandum of Agreement – Real Estate, provides in relevant part: 

… if the Applicant: …  (ii) ceases operations at the facility for which the Tax Phase-
in was granted for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a 
temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of business or 
as a result of a force majeure event); or (iii) announces the cessation of operations 
at such facility for a period longer than thirty (30) consecutive days (other than a 
temporary cessation of operations in the Applicant's normal course of business or 
as a result of a force majeure event), then the City may terminate the Economic 
Revitalization Area designation and associated Tax Phase-in benefits, and upon 
such termination, require the Applicant to repay all of the Tax Phase-in benefits 
received through the date of termination … 

The City of Elkhart is aware that Champion Manufacturing Inc. ceased manufacturing operations 
at 5100 Hoffman Street, Elkhart, Elkhart County, Indiana – “the facility for which the tax phase-
in was granted” – contrary to the terms of the Memorandum of Agreement. Champion 
Manufacturing Inc. and CR17 Land Development LLC are in breach of the Memorandum of 
Agreement. The cessation of operations within the economic revitalization area violates the most-
fundamental premise of the MOA – that Champion, through its manufacturing operations maintain 
the promised levels of employment and employee compensation, and serve as an impetus of 
economic activity in the area. The cessation of operations breaches the Memorandum of 



Champion Manufacturing, Inc.
CR 17 Land Development, LLC

August 5, 2024
2 | P a g e

Agreement. Consequently, the City of Elkhart Department of Development Services has 
determined that the economic revitalization area (ERA) and associated tax phase-in benefits, 
should be terminated, and that, a portion of the tax savings, which Champion Manufacturing Inc. 
and CR 17 Land Development LLC received under the Memorandum of Agreement, should be 
repaid.1 

This correspondence serves as notice, as required under paragraph 7 and paragraph 8 of the 
Memorandum of Agreement. You are hereby notified that (1) the City intends to terminate the 
economic revitalization area; (2) that a portion of the tax savings should be repaid; (3) that the 
calculations used to determine the tax benefits subject to repayment are herein provided; and (4) 
that you have the opportunity to meet with the City to present any reasons why the agreement 
should not be terminated or tax benefits repaid as claimed by the City.  

Tax Phase-In Schedule 

The City of Elkhart granted Champion Manufacturing Inc. and CR17 Land Development LLC, a 
five-year (5-year) tax phase-in of the new taxes, which would arise from the proposed capital 
investment project. In short, the agreement and Indiana law allowed for a temporary special 
deduction against the increase in the assessed value of the property, thereby providing a tax-
savings to City of Elkhart granted Champion Manufacturing Inc. and CR17 Land Development 
LLC under the terms and conditions of the MOA.  

The amount of the temporary special deduction authorized under the MOA was expressed as a 
percentage of the increase in the assessed value of the property, attributed to the real estate 
improvement project. The percent of the deduction was not a static number. Rather, the phase-in 
began in the first year with a deduction equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the increase in
assessed value of the property, with the percentage of deduction decreasing in the four (4) 
succeeding years, until no deduction was allowed. and the full amount of property tax was payable. 

Once the capital investment was made and the real property improvement was assessed by the 
Elkhart County Assessor, the tax phase-in schedule was established, as follows:  

YEAR DEDUCTION 
ALLOWED

TAX YEAR

Year 1: 100% (2021 / Pay 2022)
Year 2: 80% (2022 / Pay 2023)
Year 3: 60% (2023 / Pay 2024)
Year 4: 40% (2024 / Pay 2025)
Year 5: 20% (2025 / Pay 2026)

Annualization of Deductions, Calculation Measures, & Compliance-Noncompliance Levels

For calculation purposes and assuming substantial performance in each year of the agreement, the
progressive reduction in the 5-year deduction annualizes to 60% per year – ((100+80 +60+40+20)

 
1 The decision to terminate the ERA and the determination of the amount of tax phase-in benefits should be repaid, is 
a function of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart. Upon formal action by the Common Council, the level to 
which all or a portion of the benefits received to-date will be determined. 



Champion Manufacturing, Inc.
CR 17 Land Development, LLC

August 5, 2024
3 | P a g e

÷ 5 = 60). In other words, over the span of five (5) years, the effective value of the allowable 
deduction equates to a deduction of 60% per year. 

Compliance under the Memorandum of Agreement is a measurement of the extent to which 
Champion Manufacturing Inc. and CR17 Land Development LLC met its commitments for capital 
investment, manufacturing operations at the facility, maintenance of existing employment and 
payroll levels, and the addition of new employees at agreed upon payroll levels. An annual 
determination of compliance, or lack thereof, commenced with the filing of the requisite Statement 
of Compliance with Statement of Benefits (Form CF-1 / Real Property) each year of the phase-in 
schedule.  

In year-one (1) of the tax phase-in, Champion and/or CR17 Land Development filed the requisite 
Statement of Compliance with Statement of Benefits (Form CF-1 / Real Property); and the City  
found you in compliance, thereby allowing the claim for 100% of the special tax abatement 
deduction.  

In year-two (2) of the phase-in, Champion and/or CR17 Land Development failed to file the 
requisite Statement of Compliance with Statement of Benefits (Form CF-1 / Real Property). 
Consequently, you were not in compliance; and the deduction was not allowed.  

In year three (3), Champion and/or CR17 Land Development filed the requisite Statement of 
Compliance with Statement of Benefits (Form CF-1 / Real Property); and the City found you in 
compliance, thereby allowing the claim for 60% of the special tax abatement deduction.  

For obvious reasons, the cessation of operations in the ERA results in noncompliance for year-
four (4) and year-five (5).  

Measuring the overall compliance rate of Champion and/or CR17 Land Development in terms of 
the degree to which it met its obligations under the agreement, the compliance rate is determined 
to be forty percent (40%), representing compliance in two (2) of the five (5) years. Similarly, 
measuring the overall noncompliance rate of Champion and/or CR17 Land Development, in terms 
of the degree to which it failed to meet its obligations under the agreement, the noncompliance 
rate is determined to be sixty percent (60%), representing noncompliance in three (3) of the five 
(5) years. The table below illustrates the level of compliance and noncompliance, expressed as a 
percentage of the whole: 

AGREEMENT 
YEAR

COMPLIANCE YEAR 
(CF-1)

COMPLIANCE LEVEL NONCOMPLIANCE 
LEVEL

Year 1: 2021 100% 0% 
Year 2: 2022 0% 100%
Year 3: 2023 100% 0% 
Year 4: 2024 0% 100%
Year 5: 2025 0% 100%

ANNUALIZED LEVEL OF COMPLIANCE-
NONCOMPLIANCE: 40%

 
60% 



Champion Manufacturing, Inc.
CR 17 Land Development, LLC

August 5, 2024
4 | P a g e

Calculation of Repayment of Tax-Saving Benefits 

As specified in paragraph 5 of the Memorandum of Agreement, upon termination of ERA, the City 
may require the repayment of all of the tax phase-in benefits received through the date of 
termination. The “amount of benefit repayment shall be measured against the level of 
noncompliance.” Inversely stated, the “amount of benefit retained shall be measured against the 
level of compliance.” As indicated above, Champion’s level of compliance, annualized over the 
five-year term, is 40%; and its level of noncompliance, annualized over the five-year term, is 60%.
Champion’s level of noncompliance is the measure by which the repayment of tax savings is 
determined in each year in which a benefit was received.  

Application of Repayment Rate: 2021/Pay 2022 Tax Bill

Based upon the above and forgoing, Champion Manufacturing Inc. / CR17 Land Development 
LLC shall repay the previously received tax savings benefit, under the following calculations for 
tax benefits received on the 2021/Pay 2022 tax bill: 

Recalculation of Tax Savings as Repayment in Relation to 
Noncompliance 2021-Pay 2022  
Assessed Value of Capital Improvement 3,830,900.00 

Deduction Authorized Under MOA Schedule (if compliant) 3,830,900.00 100%
Amount of MOA Authorized Deduction Repayable in Relation to 
Noncompliance   (2,298,540.00) -60% of 100%  

Tax Rate 0.04111  
Tax Savings Repayable in Relation to Noncompliance  (94,492.98)

Gross Tax Savings Repayable (94,492.98)

Less Credit for 15% of Savings Paid to City of Elkhart Under MOA 15,130.06 

Net Tax Savings Repayable (79,362.92)

Application of Repayment Rate: 2023/Pay 2024 Tax Bill

Based upon the above and forgoing, Champion Manufacturing Inc. / CR17 Land Development 
LLC shall repay the previously received tax savings benefit, under the following calculations for 
tax benefits received on the 2023/Pay 2024 tax bill:

Recalculation of Tax Savings as Repayment in Relation to 
Noncompliance 2023-Pay 2024  
Assessed Value of Capital Improvement 4,914,200.00 

Deduction Authorized Under MOA Schedule (if compliant) 2,948,520.00 60%

Deduction Claimed in Excess of MOA  (540,560.00)
Amount of MOA Authorized Deduction Repayable in Relation to 
Noncompliance (1,769,112.00) - 60% of 60%

Tax Rate 0.03748

Tax Savings Repayable in Relation to Noncompliance (66,309.86)
Tax Savings Repayable in Relation to Deduction Claimed in Excess of 
MOA (20,261.27)

Gross Tax Savings Repayable (86,571.13)



Champion Manufacturing, Inc.
CR 17 Land Development, LLC

August 5, 2024
5 | P a g e

Less Credit for 15% of Savings Paid to City of Elkhart Under MOA

Net Tax Savings Repayable (86,571.13)

Right to Meet with City Representative, Right to Hearing and Judicial Review

Pursuant to paragraph 7 of the MOA, you have thirty (30) days from the date of this letter to 
arrange to meet and confer with the undersigned corporation counsel and appropriate members of 
the Department of Redevelopment to provide any information or reasons why the tax abatement 
should not terminate or the tax phase-in benefits should not be repaid, as provided herein. 

If, notwithstanding any information or reasons provided during the meeting, the City persists in its 
determination that the tax phase-in benefits should terminate and/or the repayment action is proper, 
you will be provided written of the determination and calculations of any repayment. The 
preliminary calculations are set forth above and will become final, upon final action of the 
Common Council, unless we reach an agreement in the ensuing thirty (30) days, on the 
administration’s recommendation to terminate the tax phase-in benefits and claim for repayment 
of benefits received, arising from Champion’s cessation of operations.  

Separately, the Common Council terminated the tax abatement referenced herein, on July 29, 2024, 
for the failure of Champion and/or CR17 Land Development to file the requisite State Form CF-1 
\ Real Property. If you disagree with the Common Council final action, you have the right to seek 
judicial review under Indiana Code 6-l.l-12.l-5.9(e). 

Respectfully yours, 

CITY OF ELKHART 
DEPARTMENT OF LAW 

John M. Espar
Corporation Counsel

cc: Rod Roberson, Mayor
Arvis Dawson, President of the Common Council 
Michael Huber, Director Development Services 
Drew Wynes, Development Specialist 

 



Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-04

RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA APPROVING AGREEMENT FOR REPAYMENT OF TAX PHASE-IN 
BENEFITS BETWEEN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA AND CHAMPION 

MANUFACTURING INC. AND C.R. 17 LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
___________________________________________

 
WHEREAS, on October 8, 2019, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, 

entered into a Memorandum of Agreement – Real Property (Memorandum of Agreement) with 

Champion Manufacturing Inc.(Champion) and C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC (CR 17), which 

granted Champion and CR 17 certain tax-reducing benefits on the site of Champion’s 

manufacturing facility located in the City of Elkhart, in exchange for the performance of certain 

promises by the Champion at the site; and 

WHEREAS, on January 1, 2024, Champion Manufacturing, Inc. ceased manufacturing 

operations at the Elkhart facility, and terminated all employees at the facility, contrary to the terms 

of the Memorandum of Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, on July 29, 2024, the Common Council adopted Resolution No. R-39-24, 

finding Champion Manufacturing Inc. and C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC failed to comply with 

the terms of the Memorandum of Agreement. Therefore, the Council terminated the companies’ 

rights to receive the tax benefits under the Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, under the terms of the Memorandum of Agreement, if the Council determined 

that Champion failed to comply with the Agreement, the City retained the right to reclaim the tax 

benefits received by Champion and/or CR 17, in proportion to Champion’s non-compliance with 

the Memorandum of Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart has determined that Champion 



Page 2 of 10 

Manufacturing Inc. and/or C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC, received tax benefits totaling 

seventy-nine thousand, three hundred sixty-two and 92/100 dollars ($79,362.92) in the 2021-Pay 

2022 tax year, and eighty-six thousand, five hundred seventy-one and 13/100 dollars ($86,571.13)

in the 2023-Pay 2024 tax year; and 

WHEREAS, Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart has entered into a certain 

Agreement for Repayment of Tax Phase-In Benefits, with Champion Manufacturing Inc. and/or 

C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC, dated February 25, 2025, subject to the approval of the Common 

Council; said agreement being attached hereto as Exhibit B, and incorporated herein;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The Agreement for Repayment of Tax Phase-In Benefits, executed by 

Corporation Counsel for the City of Elkhart, on behalf of the City of Elkhart, is hereby approved, 

in the manner and form signed and attached as Exhibit B. 

Section 2.  Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement for Repayment of Tax Phase-In Benefits, 

the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, hereby determines that Champion 

Manufacturing Inc. and C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC, jointly and severally, shall pay the sum 

of seventy-nine thousand, three hundred sixty-two and 92/100 dollars ($79,362.92), to the Elkhart 

County Treasurer, as taxes payable for the 2021-Pay 2022 tax year, and payable with such other 

sums as are due in the first installment of taxes payable to the Treasurer on the 2024-Pay 2025, tax 

bill; 

Section 3.  Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement for Repayment of Tax Phase-In Benefits, 

the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, hereby determines that Champion 

Manufacturing Inc. and C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC, jointly and severally, shall pay the sum 



Page 3 of 10 

of eighty-six thousand, five hundred seventy-one and 13/100 dollars ($86,571.13) to the Elkhart 

County Treasurer, as taxes payable for the 2023-Pay 2024 tax year, and payable with such other 

sums as are due in the first installment of taxes payable to the Treasurer on the 2025-Pay 2026, tax 

bill;   

Section 4.  The real property taxes payable under this Resolution and the Agreement for 

Repayment of Tax Phase-In Benefits are chargeable to the real property described in Exhibit A, 

attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

Section 5.  The Common Council’s Administrative Assistant shall immediately mail a 

certified copy of this Resolution to: 

A. Champion Manufacturing Inc. \ C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC; 

B. The Elkhart County Auditor;  

C. The Elkhart County Treasurer, and  

D. The Elkhart County Assessor. 

Section 6.  If the Elkhart County Treasurer has mailed the statement required by Indiana 

Code § 6-1.1-22-8.1, the Treasurer shall immediately mail the property owner a revised statement 

that reflects the amounts due on the tax bills described in this Resolution.

Section 7.  This Resolution shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor, according to law.

[Balance of page intentionally left blank.] 

 



Page 4 of 10 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 
 

Property Address:  
5100 Hoffman Street, Elkhart, IN 46516

Parcel Number(s):
20-06-01-277-004.000-011
 
Originally known by the following legal description: 

Lot Numbered 34 as the said Lot is known and designated on the recorded Plat of Elkhart Industrial 
Park Phase V; said Plat being recorded in Plat Book 23, page 79 in the Office of Recorder of 
Elkhart County, Indiana. 
 
Now known by the following legal description: 
 
Lot Numbered One A (1A) in CR 17 Land Development Major Subdivision, First Replat as per 
plat thereof recorded December 20, 2021, in Plat Book 41, page 52 in the Office of the Recorder 
of Elkhart County, Indiana. 
 
 

 

[Balance of page intentionally left blank.] 

  



Page 5 of 10 

Exhibit B

 



Page 6 of 10 



Page 7 of 10 



Page 8 of 10 



Page 9 of 10 
 



Page 10 of 10 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ___________, _______.  

____________________________________
Arvis Dawson

 President of the Common Council
ATTEST: 

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

________ a.m./p.m. 

_____________________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______.

_____________________________________
Rod Roberson, Mayor

ATTEST: 

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk


	AGENDA for March 3, 2025 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of February 3, 2025 Council Meeting
	Minutes of February 10, 2025 Council Meeting
	Minutes of January 14, 2025 - Aurora Capital Development Commission
	Minutes of January 28, 2025 - Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of February 11, 2025 - Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of Febraury 4, 2025 - Board of Public Works
	Minutes of January 14, 2025 - Elkhart Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of January 8, 2025 - Lerner Theatre Board
	Report - January Month End - Elkhart Communications Center
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-07
	Proposed Resolution 25-R-03
	Proposed Resolution 25-R-04



